FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/31/2019 4:49 PM

Supreme Court No. 97284-2

Court of Appeals No. 74138-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AKRAM HOSSEINZADEH and JOHN DOE HOSSEINZADEH,

Petitioners,
v.

BELLEVUE PARK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sean B. Malcolm, WSBA #36245 Attorney for Petitioner

SEAN B MALCOLM PLLC 5400 Carillon Pt. Kirkland, Washington 98033 (206) 659-9514 Email: sean@kirklandtriallawyer.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Akram Hosseinzadeh and John Doe Hosseinzadeh request that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the opinion by the Court of Appeals, Division I, in *Bellevue Park Homeowners Association v. Akram Hosseinzadeh*, et. al. (No. 74138-1-I), March 18, 2019.¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE ONE: Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3) because the Court of Appeals decision raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and conflicts with decisions of this Court holding that a *prima facie* case of unlawful discrimination should prevent a foreclosure on summary judgment?

ISSUE TWO: Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals that have recognized that the court may take judicial notice of public documents if their authenticity cannot be reasonably disputed and that all reasonable inferences should be resolved on summary judgment in favor of the non-moving party?

¹ A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion is attached as Appendix A.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background

Petitioner Akram Hosseinzadeh ("Hosseinzadeh") is the owner of a condominium located at 860 – 100th Avenue NE, Unit 39, Bellevue, Washington 98004, in a condominium development called Bellevue Park.² Bellevue Park is governed by a homeowners association called Bellevue Park Homeowners Association (the "Association").³

On or about 1999, Abolfazl ("Ab") Hosseinzadeh, the brother of Petitioner Akram Hosseinzadeh, purchased condominium Unit 39 in Bellevue Park.⁴ The condominium was then occupied by Ali Hosseinzadeh and Soghra Baygan, the parents of Ab and Akram Hosseinzadeh, with the permission of their children. Petitioner and her family and parents were born in Iran, and her parents are native speakers of Farsi, speaking little or no English.⁵ In August 2002, Ab Hosseinzadeh transferred ownership of the condominium to Petitioner Akram Hosseinzadeh.⁶ Ab Hosseinzadeh installed a satellite dish at the condominium so that his parents could access Farsi language programming.⁷

² CP 49.

³ CP 15.

⁴ CP 62

⁵ CP 62–63.

⁶ CP 49.

⁷ CP 63.

B. Unlawful Discrimination by the Association against Hosseinzadehs and Civil Rights Complaints

Starting around 2002, certain members of the Association began harassing the Hosseinzadeh family.⁸ The Association also took formal adverse actions against the Hosseinzadeh family starting in 2002, including mandating removal of the satellite.⁹ In 2002, the Hosseinzadeh family filed a complaint against the Association with the Human Rights Commission (the "Commission").¹⁰ The Commission resolved the complaint through a negotiated settlement (the "Settlement") wherein the Association paid for restoration and relocation of the satellite and agreed to participate in fair housing training.¹¹ As part of the Settlement, the Association agreed "not to retaliate against or interfere with the Complainant."¹² The Association also agreed to pay to move the Hosseinzadeh's satellite dish back to their unit.¹³

In 2012, though, the Association's new property manager removed the Hosseinzadehs' satellite. Hosseinzadehs filed a second complaint before the Commission. The Commission's investigation concluded the interference with the satellite was the mistake of the Association's property manager.

⁸ CP 63.

⁹ CP 87.

¹⁰ CP 63.

¹¹ CP 55-58.

¹² CP 55.

¹³ CP 55.

¹⁴ CP 50.

¹⁵ CP 46–48.

¹⁶ CP 90.

C. Unauthorized Special Assessments by Association

That same year, the Association installed a new storm water catch basin, purportedly in an effort to combat flooding.¹⁷ The Association paid \$19,850.20 for the project by passing a special assessment levied on homeowners, instead of using the reserve fund, or including the cost for the capital improvement in the Association's annual budget.¹⁸ In violation of the Association's declaration, homeowners were not given an opportunity to vote on the assessment.¹⁹

The one-time assessment was due on November 1, 2013.²⁰ In a "warning notice" dated November 19, 2012, the association charged Ms. Hosseinzadeh \$100.00 as a "Move in-out fee" and \$333.48 for completion of a storm water remediation project.²¹ The move fee is not reflected in the Association's accounting history.²² Ms. Hosseinzadeh regularly paid her monthly assessment of around \$299.00, and then later \$321.35.²³ In another warning notice dated December 18, 2013, the Association listed the charges against Ms. Hosseinzadeh's unit as:

HOA Dues	\$321.66
Late Fees	\$ 35.00
Move in-out fee	\$100.00
Spec Assessment	\$ 12.23
Total:	\$468.86 24

¹⁷ CP at 87, 112.

¹⁸ CP 112.

¹⁹ CP 64.

²⁰ CP 112.

²¹ CP 135.

²² CP 22, App. 1.

²³ CP 22.

²⁴ CP 141.

This notice directly contradicted the "current account" document created and submitted by the Association as the primary evidence of Ms. Hosseinzadeh's debt where the outstanding balance from December 4, 2013, to January 1, 2014, is listed as \$333.88.²⁵ Importantly, this notice also lists the outstanding special assessment amount at only \$12.23.26 Association did not charge for any new special assessments between the November 2012 and December 2014 assessments.²⁷

In a letter to Ms. Hosseinzadeh dated January 18, 2013, the Association indicated that \$433.48 was "now delinquent." The letter included a section titled "Notice of Important Rights," which outlined the dispute process under the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.²⁹ On February 1, 2013, Ms. Hosseinzadeh responded with a letter requesting additional information regarding the charges and disputing "the whole and both amounts."30 Ms. Hosseinzadeh never received the requested information verifying the legitimacy of the special assessment or the moving fee.³¹ Ms. Hosseinzadeh continued to pay her regular monthly assessment, usually within the first ten days of the month.³² According to the Association's own accounting, at the end of October 2014, Ms. Hosseinzadeh' s balance for Association assessments and fees was only

²⁵ CP 22.

²⁶ CP 141.

²⁷ CP 22–23.

²⁸ CP 139.

²⁹ CP 139.

³² CP 20–23.

\$82.63.³³ Despite the minimal balance, and Ms. Hosseinzadeh's established record of timely payment, the Association started collections against her and, without warning, imposed a \$397 collection fine. In a letter dated November 25, 2014, the Association's collection agent initiated collection against Ms. Hosseinzadeh and her condominium.³⁴ The letter indicated that Ms. Hosseinzadeh had an "outstanding balance of \$432.98 for delinquent assessments through November 1, 2014 [not including] unbilled/unposted attorney fees and collection expenses which will total no less than an additional \$496.00."³⁵ This letter contradicts the Association's own accounting, which shows the association charged \$350.27 of the 'delinquent' amount on November 1, 2014.³⁶ The letter purported to mark an assessment as delinquent and subject to collections activity on the same day it was charged to the account, November 1, 2014.³⁷

Beginning in December 2014, the Association levied another special assessment.³⁸ The December 2014 special assessment related to the installation of a mandatory fire alarm system, costing \$116,000.³⁹ Ms. Hosseinzadeh's portion of the assessment was \$170.62 per month for twelve months.⁴⁰ Contrary to the Association's governing documents, the

³³ CP 23.

³⁴ CP 96.

³⁵ CP 96.

³⁶ CP 23.

³⁷ CP 96.

³⁸ CP 108.

³⁹ CP 108.

⁴⁰ CP 108–109.

condominium owners were not provided with an opportunity to vote on the special assessment for the fire alarm capital improvement.⁴¹

Ms. Hosseinzadeh continued to pay her regular assessment, believing the collection letter to be in error. In a letter dated January 6, 2015, the association's collection agent notified Ms. Hosseinzadeh of new alleged 'delinquent' balance of \$1,639.63. On January 9, Ms. Hosseinzadeh responded and again disputed the legitimacy of the Association's collection action under the *Fair Debt Collection Practices Act* and requested documentation validating the amount in "an attempt to correct [the Association's] records."

D. The Association Forecloses on Hosseinzadeh

On February 20, 2015, the Association filed the underlying foreclosure lawsuit against Ms. Hosseinzadeh, adding a security deposit, costs and attorney's fees to the small underlying amount that was claimed to be delinquent. Ms. Hosseinzadeh asserted as defenses payment, a *bona fide* dispute, offset, unclean hands/illegality, and incorrect accounting, among other affirmative defenses. The Association moved for summary judgment before either party had conducted meaningful discovery. Ms. Hosseinzadeh disputed the delinquency of her account with the Association

⁴¹ CP 64.

⁴² CP 23.

⁴³ CP 98.

⁴⁴ CP 103.

⁴⁵ CP 1.

⁴⁶ CP 7–8.

⁴⁷ CP 11.

and responded to the motion for summary judgement arguing genuine issues of fact about: (1) whether the Association initiated the foreclosure action out of discrimination and/or in retaliation to the Hosseinzadehs' discrimination complaints; and (2) whether the assessments were authorized, or arbitrary, because the Petitioner "has consistently paid her monthly assessments and the substantive portion of the alleged past due charges consists of an unauthorized security deposit charge, improper late charges, and costs and attorney's fees."

In addition to Petitioner's declaration, Petitioner's brother filed a declaration in opposition to summary judgment, providing evidence that the association failed to acquire the necessary votes by Association members in order to impose the special assessments.⁴⁹ He correctly identified that the Association was required to (but failed to) obtain 51 or 75 affirmative votes before enforcing the 2012 and 2014 special assessments, in accordance with section 7.12 of the Association's declaration.⁵⁰

The trial court heard argument on the motion for summary judgment.⁵¹ Ms. Hosseinzadeh requested a 60-day continuance under CR 56(f) in order to perform a CR 30(b)(6) deposition of the Association to gather more information about the assessments.⁵² The trial court denied the request for a CR 56(f) continuance and instead granted the motion for

⁴⁸ CP 38.

⁴⁹ CP 63-64.

⁵⁰ CP 64.

⁵¹ Report of Proceedings (RP) 1.

⁵² RP 9.

summary judgment, ordering foreclosure of Ms. Hosseinzadeh's property.⁵³ The trial court entered judgment against Ms. Hosseinzadeh for \$11,487.84.⁵⁴ On October 23, 2015, Ms. Hosseinzadeh timely filed this appeal.

While this appeal was pending, Ms. Hosseinzadeh sought relief from judgment by filing a CR 60(b) motion with the trial court, citing the evidence of discrimination. Ms. Hosseinzadeh was initially successful on this motion. The trial court determined that Hosseinzadeh had a meritorious defense and that the foreclosure order violated constitutional protections against discrimination. The Association appealed the decision to this court, resulting in a stay of this appeal. ⁵⁵ On the appeal of the CR 60(b) order, the Court of Appeals reversed the vacation of judgment on procedural grounds, indicating that the instant appeal was the proper forum for such a review, and not a CR 60(b) motion. ⁵⁶

On March 18, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary judgment.⁵⁷ A copy of this decision is included in the Appendix. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's motion to publish on May 1, 2019. Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision upholding the

⁵³ RP 10.

⁵⁴ CP 193–194.

⁵⁵ Bellevue Park Homeowners Ass 'n v. Hosseinzadeh, 199 Wn. App. 1048 (2017) (No. 75130-1-1) (unpublished).

⁵⁶ Id.

⁵⁷ Bellevue Park Homeowners Ass 'n v. Hosseinzadeh, 2019 WL 1245634 (March 18, 2019) (No. 74138-1-1) (unpublished).

foreclosure on summary judgment, notwithstanding the evidence of discrimination and arbitrary and unauthorized assessments.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals decision raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and conflicts with decisions of this Court holding that a *prima facie* case of unlawful discrimination should prevent a foreclosure on summary judgment.

Hosseinzadeh presented evidence in response to summary judgment that the Association had discriminated against her and her family. The evidence included two complaints filed with Washington's Human Rights Commission against the Association in 2002 and 2012, and declarations by the Petitioner and her brother, Ab Hosseinzadeh, detailing discriminatory acts by the Association. These acts included: removing a satellite dish used to accommodate the language needs of Petitioner's Iranian parents; lack of due process in charging unauthorized assessments, costs and attorney's fees against Petitioner, and unequal application of collection activity and litigation.

Even though the trial court later reversed its summary judgment order when Petitioner brought a CR 60(b) motion based on the evidence of discrimination, the Court of Appeals appeared to ignore the evidence of discrimination, and the genuine issues of material fact that it raised in opposition to summary judgment. Rather, the Court of Appeals held that because the Association had pursued aggressive collection against other unit owners, Petitioner's evidence of discrimination was merely conclusory. The Court of Appeals mistakenly held that Petitioner was not asserting that

the assessments themselves were imposed in a discriminatory manner or for a discriminatory purpose; however, this is exactly what Petitioner asserted on summary judgment. While it is true that all homeowners were assessed, the evidence indicated that only the Hosseinzadehs were hit with foreclosure litigation for being one month late paying a special assessment, and assessed attorney's fees and costs. The holding of the Court of Appeals is contrary to controlling precedent of this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court.

The Constitution confers upon no individual the right to demand action by the State which results in the denial of equal protection of the laws to other individuals. *Shelly v. Kramer*, 334 U.S. 1, 68 S.Ct. 836, 846 (1948). The power of the State to create and enforce property interests must be exercised within the boundaries defined by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* Hosseinzadeh established a *prima facie* case of discrimination in response to the Association's summary judgment, by demonstrating that she was a member of a protected class (Iranian), and that she suffered a recognizable injury (foreclosure) through the discriminatory conduct of the Association. *Harris v. Itzhaki*, 183 F.3d 1043, 1051 (9th Cir. 1999); *Phiffer v. Proud Parrot Motor Hotel, Inc.*, 648 F.2d 548, 551 (9th Cir. 1980).

By upholding the Association's motion for summary judgment, in the face of *prima facie* evidence of discrimination – discrimination that later caused the trial court to overturn its summary judgment – the appellate court ruled contrary to controlling precedent from this Court and the fundamentals of the Constitution.

B. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals that have recognized that the court may take judicial notice of public documents if their authenticity cannot be reasonably disputed and that all reasonable inferences should be resolved on summary judgment in favor of the non-moving party.

The Association included only an excerpt of its governing documents (the declaration) in its summary judgment motion. On summary judgment, Petitioner argued that an undisclosed article, section 7.12, of the declaration required a vote by unit owners before the Association could levy an assessment for more than \$5,000. Petitioner argued that because no such vote occurred, the assessments, upon which the Association based its foreclosure action against Petition, were unauthorized. In essence, Petitioner asked the trial court to take judicial notice of section 7.12 of the declaration, under ER 201. Further, Petitioner argued that the Court of Appeals could have considered the full declaration under RAP 9.11(a). The Court of Appeals held that it could not take judicial notice section 7.12, or consider it under RAP 9.11(a). This holding by the Court of Appeals' conflicts with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals.

In *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, the Court of Appeals held that a court may take judicial notice of public documents if their authenticity cannot be reasonably disputed. *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 725, 189 P.3d 168 (2008). In *Alexander v. Sanford*, the Court of Appeals held that trial court properly took judicial notice of homeowners' deeds, which established the dates on which each plaintiff purchased his or her unit. *Alexander v. Sanford*, 181 Wn. App. 135, 169–70, 325 P.3d 341 (2014).

Section 7.12 of the declaration provided that a vote of a majority of the owners at a meeting, or if no meeting than not less than fifty-one (or seventy-five if in excess of \$50,000) of the owners was required before the Association "acquire(s) and pay(s) for ... capital additions and improvements" of more than \$5,000.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly held that "section 7.12 was not mentioned in any of the summary judgment materials" and that therefore the record was silent as to the nature and authority for the assessments. However, this is incorrect. The trial court had notice of article 7.12 at summary judgment through the Declaration of Ab Hosseinzadeh, who referred to it in paragraph 6 of his declaration:⁵⁸ "I believe the condominium bylaws, State, and/or Federal Laws and regulations requires the association to set a meeting and to obtain 51 or 75 affirmative votes before enforcing new assessments." The association failed to hold any meetings or obtain any vote on the assessments.⁵⁹

As such, this should have raised a genuine issue of material fact about whether the assessments upon which the foreclosure action was based were authorized. Instead the Court of Appeals improperly resolved this inference in the favor of the moving party and incorrectly held that section 7.12 was not before the court on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals held that even if it had considered section 7.12, Hosseinzadeh did not establish that the restriction in section 7.12 applied to the Association's

⁵⁸ CP 63-64

⁵⁹ *Id*.

special assessments. However, on summary judgment, this inference should have been resolved in favor of Hosseinzadeh, the non-moving party. *Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 140, 142, 500 P.2d 88 (1972).

The Court of Appeals' holding that it could not review the entire condominium declaration, a publicly available document, conflicts with its prior decisions. Similarly, its resolution of all inferences in favor of the moving party, rather than the moving party, conflicts with prior decision of this Court. Review by this Court is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(3). The Court of Appeals overlooked evidence of national origin and race discrimination. This same evidence later caused the trial court to vacate its own summary judgment order in response to a CR 60(b) motion brought by Petitioner. The Court of Appeals also resolved reasonable inferences on summary judgment in favor of the moving party, the Association, and refused to take judicial notice, or consider under RAP 9.11(a), the public declaration document that the trial court had notice of on summary judgment.