FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/13/2019 2:56 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97284-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BELLEVUE PARK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

Respondent,

v.

AKRAM HOSSEINZADEH

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Patrick M. McDonald WSBA No. 36615 Dean H. Pody WSBA No. 27585

Attorneys for Respondent Bellevue Park Homeowners Association

Pody & McDonald, PLLC 1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1410 Seattle, WA 98101-3106 Telephone: 206-467-1559

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is about a condominium unit owner refusing to pay her share of special assessments for a condominium association's common expenses that all the other owners in the condominium paid. State law is clear that owners of condominium units are personally liable for unpaid assessments and associations have liens against the units for same.

There is no dispute that Petitioner's condominium assessment account was delinquent. In fact, she admitted she had a delinquent balance to both the trial court and to the Court of Appeals. The trial court and the Court of Appeals both correctly applied well-established principals of law to the evidence submitted and granted the Association a personal judgment and foreclosure decree.

Petitioner asks this Court to review the case while barely addressing the criteria for acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Instead, the Petition for Review is largely devoted to arguing the particular facts of the case. The petition is replete with statements that are not supported by the record, and in many instances, fail to even include citations thereto. Using these inaccurate and unsupported statements, Petitioner then asserts that the lower courts incorrectly determined that there was no genuine issue of material fact.

The remainder of the Petition argues that the Court of Appeals should have taken judicial notice of section 7.12 of the Association's condominium declaration – a document that Petitioner never submitted into the record or even mentioned to the trial court on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals decision pertaining to section 7.12 is consistent with Washington law. Accordingly, the Petition for Review should be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Special Assessments to Fund Maintenance, Repair, and Replacement of the Common Area.

1. The 2012 Special Assessment

The Association is a condominium association comprised of 79 units located in Bellevue, Washington, and was created on March 22, 1979. CP 1-2; CP 132-33. In 2012, the Association was engaged in a remediation project to fix its storm water drainage system. CP 123, 126. In order to pay for the final phase of the project, the Board of Directors adopted a special assessment in the total amount of \$19,850.20. CP 126. The special assessment was approved in the same manner as all assessments at the Association and was allocated to each unit according to the unit's undivided interest in the common area pursuant to RCW 64.32.080. CP 127-28. As the owner of unit 39, with a 1.68 percent interest in the common area, Petitioner's share of the special assessment was \$333.48. Id.

2. The 2014 Special Assessment

In January of 2013, the Bellevue Fire Department inspected Bellevue Park and determined that the property was in violation of city code and that a fire alarm notification system needed to be installed. CP 123, 130-31. The Association signed a contract with a vendor to perform the installation for \$116,000. Id. To pay for the installation, the Board of Directors adopted a special assessment in the total amount of \$116,070 to be paid by all owners. CP 130-34. Petitioner's proportionate share of the special assessment was \$1,949.98. CP 132. Petitioner's unit was assessed \$170.62 per month (which included a 5% service fee) for 12 months beginning December 1, 2014. Id., CP 143-45.

Petitioner failed to pay the 2012 and 2014 special assessments, and the Association or its attorney sent her notices demanding payment on November 19, 2012, December 19, 2012, January 18, 2013, December 18, 2013, November 25, 2014, January 6, 2015, and January 26, 2015. CP 135, 137, 139, 141, 96, 98-100, 105-114. Despite receiving these notices over a span of more than two years, Petitioner failed to pay. CP 143-45.

¹ Without citing to the record, Petitioner claims that she sent a letter requesting information on February 1, 2013, to which she alleges she received no response. Pet. for Review, p. 5, n.30-31. There is no evidence of this letter in the record. Regardless, the Association provided Petitioner with all relevant information regarding the assessments at issue before filing suit. CP 105-114.

B. The Present Lawsuit.

As a result, on February 20, 2015, the Association filed this lawsuit. CP 1-4. Petitioner retained an attorney and answered the complaint on April 17, 2015. CP 5-10. The answer included 11 affirmative defenses, none of which mentioned discrimination or retaliation. Id. Six months after the answer was filed, the Association filed a motion for summary judgment. CP 11-34. Petitioner filed a response on September 14, 2015. CP 35-42. Her response was the first time Petitioner made any mention of discrimination or retaliation related to the special assessments at issue. Id. The Association prevailed on summary judgment and was awarded the amount requested. CP 193-96.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment on March 18, 2019. A copy of the slip opinion is attached as Appendix 1. Petitioner sought to have the opinion published. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's motion without asking for a response from the Association.

C. Collection of Special Assessments Against Other Owners.

All 79 units were assessed the special assessments at issue to pay for repairs to the condominium's common area. CP 128, 132-33. Petitioner was not assessed more than her unit's proportionate share of the special assessments or given payment terms that differed from the 78 other owners.

Id. In addition to the lawsuit filed against Petitioner, the Association filed lawsuits against the other two owners who did not voluntarily pay their share of the special assessments. CP 82, 94, 122-23. These cases were filed under King County Superior Court cause numbers 14-2-33521-1 and 15-2-03037-0. CP 82, 94. The Association obtained judgments in those cases. CP 82. Each case was subsequently resolved by payment from each of the defendants and satisfactions of judgment were filed. CP 82, 94.

D. Complaints Filed With the Human Rights Commission by Petitioner's Brother Against the Association Before This Lawsuit.

1. The 2002 Fair Housing Complaint.

In 2002, Petitioner's brother, who owned unit 39 in Bellevue Park before Petitioner (CP 62), filed a complaint against the Association with the Washington State Human Rights Commission (HRC) related to his installation of a satellite dish in the Association's common area. CP 49-50, 53-58. The Association was not represented by counsel, and the parties reached a Pre-Finding Settlement Agreement dated March 22, 2002. CP 53-58. The agreement provided that the satellite dish could remain in the common area until the brother either removed the dish voluntarily or his parents vacated unit 39. CP 55. The agreement did not constitute an admission of wrongdoing or a determination by the HRC that any discrimination had occurred. CP 54.

2. The 2012 Fair Housing Complaint.

Petitioner's brother filed a second complaint against the Association with the HRC in 2012 in which he made nine allegations of discrimination. CP 86. Following an exhaustive investigation, which included 29 findings of fact, the HRC concluded that none of the brother's claims had merit. CP 87-91. The HRC specifically concluded that there was not sufficient evidence to show that the Association engaged in any discrimination or retaliation. Id.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with Decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

The Petition for Review raises only one issue of law: whether the Court of Appeals should have taken judicial notice of section 7.12 of the condominium declaration. Pet. for Review, pp. 12-14. A copy of section 7.12 is attached as Appendix 2. Petitioner's argument is that section 7.12 is a publicly recorded document that merits judicial notice. Id. However, this argument misunderstands the rationale and the scope of the Court of Appeals' rejection of her section 7.12 argument.

First, Petitioner never submitted section 7.12 into the record on summary judgment. As the Court of Appeals stated, it would be illogical and ironical to reverse the trial court for improperly interpreting section 7.12

when it never saw, heard argument about, or otherwise had section 7.12 called to its attention. slip. op. at 9.

This reasoning is consistent with the plain language of RAP 9.12, which restricts review of summary judgment orders only to "evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court." It is also consistent with case law. *See Mithoug v. Apollo Radio of Spokane*, 128 Wn.2d 460, 462, 909 P.2d 291 (1996) (evidence must have been, at a minimum, called to the trial court's attention); *see also Hurley v. Port Blakely Tree Farms, L.P.*, 182 Wn. App. 753, 768 n.10, 332 P.3d 469 (2014) (declining, pursuant to RAP 9.12, to consider extrinsic materials submitted as appendices to a party's appellate briefing from a summary judgment order because the materials were not before the trial court).²

Second, the Court of Appeals observed that the failure to submit section 7.12 into the record meant that Petitioner raised this issue for the first time on appeal. slip. op. at 9. It is settled that appellate courts may refuse any claim of error not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a); *Am. Universal Ins. Co. v. Ranson*, 59 Wn.2d 811, 816, 370 P.2d 867 (1962) ("[I]t would be unfair to consider, on appellate review, matters not presented to the trial court for its consideration.")

² Because it was never submitted into the record, Petitioner appended section 7.12 to her Opening Brief without permission from the Court of Appeals in violation of RAP 10.3(a)(8).

Last, the Court of Appeals did consider the substance of Petitioner's argument as if section 7.12 were in the record and determined that "our analysis would not change." slip. op. at 9. The Court of Appeals correctly remarked that "[l]ikely because section 7.12 was not mentioned in any of the summary judgment materials, the record is silent on whether the wastewater remediation project and fire alarm system were capital additions and improvements" that would have required owner approval. Id. at 10. Petitioner simply failed to provide *any* evidence to demonstrate that section 7.12 applied to the special assessments at issue.

B. This Case Does Not Involve a Significant Question of Law Under the Federal or State Constitution.

Petitioner's first heading in her argument section states that this case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. However, in the argument that follows, she never cites to or even mentions the State Constitution.

As for the United States Constitution, Petitioner relies on *Shelley v. Kramer* (334 U.S. 1, 68 S.Ct. 836, 92 L.Ed. 1161 (1948) to support her position without providing any analysis as to how or why that case applies in this context. Pet. for Review, p. 11. Petitioner never mentioned or cited to *Shelley* on summary judgment or in her appellate briefs. Regardless, her reliance on *Shelley* is misplaced.

Shelley involved the judicial enforcement of an offensive, facially discriminatory private restrictive covenant that barred anyone not of the "caucasian race" from owning property in a neighborhood. *Id.* at 4. The United States Supreme Court held that a state court order enforcing the restrictive covenant constituted state action that violated the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 10.

In contrast, this case involves the application of a facially neutral state statute and declaration provision that require all owners – regardless of race or ethnicity – to pay their share of assessments in order to fund necessary repairs to the Association's common area. The statute and declaration do not deprive Petitioner of her right to acquire, enjoy, own, or sell her unit based on race like the restrictive covenant in *Shelley*. Petitioner offers no analysis as to why *Shelley* would relieve Petitioner of her obligation to pay assessments that all the other owners in Bellevue Park were required to pay and did pay.

Furthermore, even if alleged discrimination had anything to do with this case, which it does not, Petitioner failed to demonstrate a prima facie case of discrimination. Petitioner provided no specific facts showing she was treated differently than anyone else. Instead, Petitioner relied on self-serving conclusions and mere speculation, all of which were clearly refuted by the record. *See*, slip. op. at 13-15; Respondent's Br. at 11-17.

Just like the other 78 units in the condominium, her unit was assessed in accordance with its 1.68 percent undivided interest in the common area. CP 128, 132-33. Petitioner was given the same payment schedule as everyone else. Id. When she did not pay, the Association sent Petitioner myriad requests for payment throughout the years before filing this lawsuit. CP 135, 137, 139, 141, 96, 98-100, 105-114.

Additionally, the Association provided evidence that, in addition to the lawsuit filed against Petitioner, the Association filed lawsuits against the other two owners who did not voluntarily pay their share of the special assessments. Those cases resulted in judgments against each owner that were both later satisfied, leaving Petitioner as the only owner to not have paid. slip. op. at 12-14; CP 82, 94, 122-23.

Significantly, Petitioner conceded that she owed the debt to the Association. She admitted that her account was delinquent at the end of October 2014. Appellant's Br. at 15. And during the summary judgment hearing, her attorney admitted that her account had been delinquent for "years and years." RP 4. The record is overwhelmingly clear that she owed the assessments like everyone else but failed to pay them.

C. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Petitioner does not claim that there is a substantial public interest involved, and there is none. A single owner's failure to pay assessments (that all the other owners were assessed and paid) to enable a particular condominium association to conduct necessary repairs to its common area is not of substantial public interest.

D. The Association Requests Its Attorney Fees, Costs, and Expenses in Responding to the Petition for Review.

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), the Association respectfully requests its reasonable attorney fees, costs, and expenses incurred responding to the Petition for Review pursuant to the Washington Condominium Act, which provides:

The Association shall be entitled to recover any costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in connection with the collection of delinquent assessments, whether or not such collection activities result in suit being commenced or prosecuted to judgment. In addition, the association shall be entitled to recover costs and reasonable attorneys' fees if it prevails on appeal and in the enforcement of a judgment.

RCW 64.34.364(14). In addition, the request is based on declaration section 9.08.4, which provides:

The Board of Directors may commence an action to foreclose a lien for assessments and in any such action shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees and all costs and expenses reasonably incurred in the preparation or the

prosecution of said action, in addition to taxable costs permitted by law.

CP 20. Both the statute and declaration provide a basis to award the Association its fees and costs.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Association respectfully requests that the Court deny the Petition for Review.